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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	Mrs A

	Scheme
	Local Government Pension Scheme

	Respondents
	The Respondent Council (the Council)


Subject

Mrs A has complained that the Council failed to properly assess her entitlement to a permanent injury allowance, took too long to process her claim, and awarded her a token amount, which they refuse to backdate to the date her employment ceased.

The Pensions Ombudsman’s determination and short reasons

The complaint should be partly upheld against the Council because they failed to consider all relevant matters when awarding Mrs A a nil benefit for the period from August 2005 to July 2009.
DETAILED DETERMINATION

Material Facts

The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations 1996.

1. Regulation 34(1) provides,

“If –

(a) as a result of anything he was required to do in carrying out his work a person who is employed in a relevant employment –

(i) sustains an injury; or

(ii) contracts a disease, and

he ceases to be employed in that or any other relevant employment as a result of an incapacity which is likely to be permanent and was caused by the injury or disease,

(b)
he shall be entitled to an annual allowance not exceeding 85 per cent of his annual rate of remuneration in respect of the employment when he ceased to be employed.”

2. Regulation 34(2) provides,

“The allowance is to be paid by the relevant employer and, subject to paragraph (1), is to be of such an amount as that employer may from time to time determine.”

3. Regulation 38 sets out the considerations which the employer should take into account when determining the amount of an allowance as follows,

“(1)
In determining the amount of an allowance ... the relevant employer is to have regard to all the circumstances of the case, including the matters specified in paragraph (2) (except in so far as they are excluded by paragraph (3)).

(2) The matters mentioned in paragraph (1) are –

(a) any right to benefit under Part V of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992;

(b) any other statutory right to benefit or compensation;

(c) any right to receive pension benefit (whether payable under an enactment or otherwise); and

(d) any damages recovered and any sum received by virtue of a contract of insurance.

(3) In the case of an allowance or a lump sum which is payable by virtue of a person having sustained an injury, no regard shall be had –

(a) to any benefit payable periodically which the person was entitled to be paid before the injury was sustained;

(b) to any right which accrued before that time; or

(c) to any damage or sum by virtue of such a right.”

4. Under Regulation 45 any question concerning an employee’s eligibility for an injury allowance is to be decided in the first instance by the relevant LGPS employer “as soon as is reasonably practicable after the occurrence of the last event by virtue of which the award may be payable”. There is provision for appeal to the Secretary of State where the relevant employer has decided or failed to decide any questions under Regulation 45. Once a decision has been made, the employer is required to send a written notice to the person affected, which should include the grounds for the decision.

Background

5. Mrs A was employed by the Council from February 2002 to August 2005. She went on sick leave in June 2004 suffering from anxiety and depression. In September 2005, Mrs A applied for ill health retirement. In March 2006, she was awarded ill health retirement backdated to August 2005.

6. Mrs A says that she notified the Council that she was ‘asserting her right’ to receive an injury allowance in October 2008 (in a witness statement dated 28 October 2008 relating to a directly unconnected matter). At paragraph 1009 of her statement, Mrs A had said that she was of the view that the Council had withheld a lawful entitlement to a permanent injury allowance from her and referred to Regulation 34.

7. On 20 July 2009, Mrs A’s solicitors wrote to the Council raising the matter of an injury benefit, which they said had ‘come up as an issue’ during Court proceedings in April 2009. The Council requested more information about Mrs A’s claim and her solicitors confirmed that she wished to claim 85% of her index linked 2005 final salary, less her annual pension, payable to age 65 or the date at which she would have achieved 40 years’ service. The Council asked Mrs A’s solicitors to submit her case for receiving an injury benefit or confirm that the Council had all the necessary information to make a decision. The solicitors submitted some additional evidence and requested a copy of the Council’s policy on the award of injury benefits. Further correspondence followed.

8. In January 2010, the Council provided Mrs A’s solicitors with a draft of a letter they were proposing to send to an occupational health physician, Dr Yarnley, requesting him to prepare a report. Further correspondence took place between Mrs A’s solicitors and the Council concerning (amongst other things) Dr Yarnley’s qualifications and access to Mrs A’s medical records. Agreement was reached at the end of March 2010 and confirmation  of the Council’s requirements were provided for Dr Yarnley in April 2010. Dr Yarnley produced his final report in November 2010. Dr Yarnley had been provided with a number of medical reports, but noted that he had not seen a statutory declaration of industrial injury issued by the DWP in February 2010 or a report from a Professor Lader (psychiatrist) dated 11 March 2009. Dr Yarnley said he accepted that Mrs A was eligible for an injury benefit.

9. Dr Yarnley had also been asked to comment on a number of specific questions, including whether Mrs A had experienced any external or other factors which might have contributed to her injury. He said he could not identify any external stressors, apart from a vulnerability relating to Mrs A’s personality and past history. Dr Yarnley went on to say he thought ‘work’ was the major contributor (65-75%) to the development of Mrs A’s illness. He stressed that this was an opinion, which was not supported by any evidence base

10. Following receipt of Dr Yarnley’s report, the Council wrote to Mrs A’s solicitors, on 8 December 2010, saying that it would not be possible to refer her case to the Council in December 2010 and the next available Council meeting was on 11 February 2011. Mrs A’s solicitors were subsequently provided with a copy of a draft report which was to be submitted to the Council’s Staff and Support Services Committee before being referred to a Full Council meeting.

11. The Staff and Support Services Committee met on 14 February 2011. The meeting was attended by the Council’s Assistant Director for Human Resources, the Borough Solicitor and the Group Accountant. A copy of the minutes of this meeting has been provided.

12. The report prepared for the Committee included financial information, legal advice and background information. The grounds on which Mrs A was claiming an injury benefit were set out in some detail, together with comments from the report’s authors. The Council does not have a policy in place on the approach to exercising discretion in such cases and there is no explicit requirement under the Regulations for such a policy. However, the report referred to the examples of policies from other authorities provided by Mrs A’s solicitors and concluded that they reflected a broad discretion allowed under the Regulations.

13. With regard to eligibility for an injury benefit, three options were covered by the report: to seek further medical advice because it was felt that Dr Yarnley had not given a definitive answer on causation; to determine that the eligibility criteria were not met; and to determine that the eligibility criteria were met. The report recommended that the Committee adopt the third option. The Committee resolved to recommend that the Council adopt the third option.

14. The report then considered the exercise of discretion as to the amount of injury benefit. It stated that the discretion to determine the amount of benefit was a wide one and that the Council was required to have regard to all the circumstances of the case, including those specifically referred to in Regulation 38. The Committee were advised that a “token award may be lawful provided an authority has genuinely exercised its discretion”. The report referred to guidance issued by the Local Government Employers organisation (LGE), which stated that authorities might wish to take the degree of contributory negligence by the applicant into account. The report stated that this was the approach taken by those authorities which had a policy in place. The report also stated that the authors had been unable to find any relevant cases which had been determined by the Secretary of State
. It then listed a number of factors which the authors considered relevant for the Council to consider.

15. The minutes list the factors taken into account by the Committee. Briefly, these were:

· the severity of Mrs A’s condition and her inability to work;

· any action by Mrs A that may have exacerbated her condition;

· evidence from the previous Court case which had suggested that, had the Council been fully aware of Mrs A’s previous medical history, they may have decided that it was not appropriate to offer her the job;

· disciplinary matters had been pending;

· by taking a high-level and stressful job, Mrs A had placed herself at risk of further illness;

· Mrs A had not disclosed her previous illnesses and the Council would have acted differently had they known, given that various health and safety measures were put in place once her condition was known;

· a failure to cooperate with the Council on Mrs A’s part in seeking a medical assessment as to her fitness;

· the delay to JNC (Joint Negotiating Committee) proceedings resulting from action by Mrs A;

· difficulties in working relationships and Mrs A’s contribution to these;

· the Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit First Tier Tribunal decision; specifically that it was based on a different test and that some of its findings were at variance with the Court case;

· the Council’s financial position; specifically that the weight of this factor was limited to ensuring that the level of the award was fair and reasonable in the circumstances and capable of justification to council taxpayers;

· the Council’s fiduciary duty (the Committee noted that Mrs A was in receipt of over £54,000 p.a. in pension and benefits
);

· advice from the High Court judge presiding in the previous Court case that they should draw a line under the dispute with Mrs A and move on.

16. The Committee had been provided with details of Mrs A’s former salary and the annual equivalent for the past five years, together with other payments to her. They also had details of the financial impact of possible annual allowances to Mrs A from both 2005 and 2009. In addition, the Committee were provided with figures which Mrs A wished them to consider. They were also provided with calculations based on methodologies used by other authorities and an alternative calculation method proposed by Mrs A. The Committee resolved to recommend that the Council award an allowance of £1,000 per annum on the basis that, whilst Mrs A’s condition suggested an award at the higher end, many of the factors considered mitigated against the maximum award. The minutes recorded that £1,000 per annum would take Mrs A to an income of 60% of the possible maximum (85%). (Mrs A disagrees with this figure) The Committee also resolved to recommend backdating the allowance to 2009 on the grounds that it had not been clear to the Council prior to this that the Regulations applied in the circumstances. They resolved to recommend that the award be reviewed in two years’ time unless there was a change in Mrs A’s circumstances before then. The minutes record that the Committee had been made aware of Mrs A’s opposition to a review within this timeframe.

17. In his report, Dr Yarnley had referred to Mrs A’s opposition to the recommendation for a review after two years and then five years he had included in his draft report. He went on to say,

“I understand and fully empathise with Mrs [A]’s position and would advise the matter of assessment and review would need to be based on all relevant matters and information, this may include a request for an update from the General Practitioner and if then (sic) demonstrates a change for the better further consideration as to how any additional assessment would need to be approached should be considered. This may not involve a medical review rather an income review.”

18. There was a full Council meeting on 25 February 2011. Having considered the recommendations of the Staff and Support Services Committee, the Council resolved to award Mrs A an injury allowance of £1,000 per annum backdated to 20 July 2009, to be reviewed in February 2013 at the latest.

19. Mrs A appealed to the Secretary of State about the backdating of her award. In September 2011, the Secretary of State upheld Mrs A’s appeal and determined that she was entitled to an injury allowance for the period from 9 August 2005. The Secretary of State said that the decision as to the amount of the injury allowance for the period 9 August 2005 to 19 July 2009 was for the Council.

20. There was a full Council meeting on 10 November 2011 to determine the amount of injury allowance to be paid for the period 9 August 2005 to 19 July 2009. The Council was provided with a report by their Director People, Organisation Development and Change, further comments provided by Mrs A and her solicitors and the documents considered at their previous meeting. During the meeting, the Council requested clarification concerning (amongst other things) whether a low or nil award could be granted, whether the level of Mrs A’s injury was the same in 2005 as it was in 2009 and whether the allowance might be covered by an insurance policy. The Council were advised that, provided they had acted reasonably and had considered matters properly, it was permissible to make a low or nil award. They were advised that it was not clear in 2005 that Mrs A’s injury satisfied the eligibility criteria for an injury allowance. They were also advised that their insurance would not cover the circumstances of the claim. With regard to Mrs A’s loan, the Council were advised that they should have regard to her submissions and could take the view that her financial commitments formed part of the relevant circumstances of the case. The report suggested that the Council might also wish to have regard to the fact that Council’s claim under the previous court case had not been found not fit for trial; that the allocation of costs had been addressed in a costs order, which had been unsuccessfully appealed; and that no evidence had been provided to substantiate the claim.
21. The minutes of the Council meeting record,

“The former employee … had not raised her financial circumstances as a matter to be considered … until her very recent submissions … Members were advised that they must take into account her point, however, in response they were reminded that the amount of costs the former employee incurred as a result of the court action were dealt with fully by the High Court and again by the Court of Appeal when it was determined that the Council should pay 65% … It is questionable how relevant this matter is to, at least part of, the period in relation to which the Council is now making a decision …  
In turning to the earlier period ... many Members commented that relevant circumstances included the fact that it was not at all obvious to the Council, in all of the circumstances which existed prior to the formal request in July 2009 ... that the former employee was eligible for an annual allowance. Members recalled ... the fact that the medical evidence as to causation (in of the criteria), was not at all clear, which meant that the decision as to eligibility had been taken on the balance of probabilities. In those circumstances and without seeking further medical opinion ... and a critical analysis of medical evidence which emerged between 2005 and 2011, the Council could not reasonably have known of the potential eligibility for an annual award. In any event, the early release of pension was not formally approved by the council until March 2006, backdated to August 2005.

A further circumstance which members considered to be of high significance was ... that the application was not made until July 2009, despite reference being made to the application in the former employee’s counterclaim ... The former employee was a very senior and highly experienced officer, and was represented during the relevant period ... Equally the Council could not itself reasonably have been expected to look to eligibility under these Regulations much earlier, it being far from obvious that the former employee was eligible for an allowance ... Members therefore took the view that the matter could reasonably have been put to the Council at a much earlier stage.”

22. The Council resolved that the amount of injury allowance they would pay Mrs A for the period 9 August 2005 to 19 July 2009 would be nil.

23. It would be impractical to reproduce in full all the submissions made by Mrs A and the Council. The main points are summarised below.

Mrs A’s Position

24. The Council should have considered her for an injury award as soon as they were told by Dr Hancock
, in January 2006, that her permanent ill health was work related.
25. Failing that, the Council should have acted on her October 2008 witness statement.
26. The Council have made the decision to award her a nil injury allowance for the period August 2005 to July 2009 on the basis that, as a senior local government officer, she would have been aware of the option to apply. At the time her employment ceased, she was not able to deal with her own affairs and the application for ill health retirement was made, on her behalf, by her husband who was not a local government employee and, therefore, unaware of the possibility of an injury benefit. The Council were aware that she was not capable of managing her own affairs at this time. It was open to the Council to obtain medical advice about her ability to apply for an allowance. Their failure to do so amounts to maladministration and disability discrimination. Contrary to the Council’s assertion, she was not legally represented between August 2005 and the summer of 2007.
27. The fact that the Council did not realise, in the absence of an application, that she was entitled to an injury allowance prior to 2009 does not absolve them from the regulatory obligation to pay a backdated benefit once they became aware of their duty to do so. Taking the delay in applying into account in determining the amount of the award is contrary to the scope and purpose of the Regulations and is discriminatory if its effect is materially linked to disability (Jones v Post Office [2001] IRLR 384).
28. At no time, have the Council sought to establish the state of her health between August 2005 and July 2009.
29. She disagrees that it is open to the Council to award a nil benefit. She submits that, if eligibility to receive an injury award arises and is accepted by the Council, compliance with the Regulations requires a payment of money from the date eligibility first arose. The Secretary of State found that the right to be paid an allowance is unequivocal and crystallises at the date employment ceases. Since ‘nil’ does not discharge an obligation to pay because it has no monetary value, the decision to pay ‘nil’ simply because an application was not made at an earlier date is unlawful. The established legal position is that a financial obligation imposed by contract or regulation is not discharged except by delivery of funds or equivalent. The decision to award a nil benefit distressed her and amounted to a punishment because she was not well enough to assert her right to an allowance before October 2008. City and County of Swansea does not support the Council’s claim that it was open to them to award a nil benefit. The intention is for the injury allowance to compensate for loss of employment through permanent incapacity.
30. She is aware that the Regulations provide for the Council to review her injury allowance and she is willing to cooperate, but she does not agree that it is reasonable for them to retain the option to require a psychiatric assessment against the advice of both their own medical adviser and her doctors.
31. The Council failed to comply with the Equality Act 2010 in the exercise of their discretion. They had a statutory obligation to consider and comply with the provisions of the Equality Act because they were aware that she was a disabled person. In particular, the Act states that local authorities must have regard to the provisions of the Act when carrying out their functions and before exercising a statutory discretion when dealing with matters directly affecting a person with a protected characteristic. The failure to comply amounts to direct discrimination and renders the Council’s decisions unlawful. The weighting system adopted by the Council applied a significantly higher weighting to factors associated with disability related issues, which had the effect of imposing an unlawful disability related detriment. (Mrs A made a detailed submission concerning the operation of the Equality Act including reference to a number of cases she felt to be relevant. It would not be practical to reproduce this in full here.)
32. The Ombudsman should apply the Wednesbury test in considering the Council’s actions.
33. City and County of Swansea makes it clear that the Council had to consider all the circumstances of her case and, if the award is derisory or does not reflect all the circumstances of the case, it can legitimately be overturned either by the Ombudsman or the Courts. The award of £1,000 was based on incorrect assumptions and assertions by the Council. It is her belief that, if all relevant matters had been considered, the sum of £1,000 could not reasonably be arrived at.
34. The Council justified ignoring the Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit First Tier Tribunal decision
 on the grounds that the judge had not had sight of the judgment in the previous Court case, which was not the case.
35. The Council were incorrectly advised that they could ignore the impact her loan had had on her financial circumstances. She has provided a letter from her solicitors which states that they advised her that the interest on a loan taken out for costs was not recoverable as part of a claim of the costs themselves. The impact of the Council’s legal action on her long term income is a relevant matter for them to take into account in exercising their discretion. The loan accounts for 53% of her pensionable income after tax. The Council failed to assess the changes in her financial circumstances between 2005 and 2011, which is contrary to the requirements of Regulation 34(2). The requirement to review should and was intended to reflect variations in the recipient’s circumstances and should be applied retrospectively in her case (City and County of Swansea).
36. It was unfair to inflate her income by including her industrial injuries disablement benefit which she did not receive until 2010 and could only be backdated by three months.
37. The Council failed to provide a formal statement of their reasons for the November 2011 decision and simply referred her to the minutes of the meeting, which is contrary to Regulation 45(5).
38. It is not clear what methodology the Council used to determine the amount of injury benefit to award her, for example, what was their starting point and how did they determine what weight to give the various factors they considered.
39. The Council asked Dr Yarnley to give advice on the appropriate amount of award and then ignored his advice.
40. The Council have ignored findings of fact made by the High Court in relation to her state of health.

41. There was undue delay in dealing with her application. Whilst some of that delay was caused by the medical advisers, the Council are vicariously liable for their contractor’s actions. The Pensions Ombudsman should follow the approach taken by the Local Government Ombudsman, who routinely upholds complaints against local authorities whose functions have been contracted to a third party.
42. She questions whether the Council are capable of regulatory impartiality given the history of her case.
Response by the Council
43. It is accepted that the Council did not consider Mrs A for an injury allowance in 2006 when they agreed to her ill health retirement. Except perhaps in cases where it is obvious that the eligibility criteria set out in Regulation 34(1) are met, a local authority does not have a duty to consider eligibility for an injury allowance in the absence of an application from the former employee. This submission is supported by the fact that, under Regulation 38(2), the Council is required to have regard for matters which are likely to be in the knowledge of the employee rather than the local authority.
44. In Mrs A’s case, the medical evidence which led to their agreement to her ill health retirement was not specific as to the cause of her ill health nor was it clear that her incapacity was likely to be permanent.
45. It is accepted that Mrs A did make reference to entitlement to an injury allowance in her witness statement prepared in October 2008 in connection with the High Court proceedings, but this was a short comment within a 237 page document. No formal request for consideration was made before July 2009.
46. Despite seeking further medical advice, the cause of Mrs A’s incapacity was not clear and remains unclear.
47. The Council decided, on the balance of probabilities, that Mrs A did satisfy the criteria for payment of an injury allowance, but noted that there were ‘causally significant’ factors leading to her injury which did not amount to anything that she was required to do in carrying out her work.
48. It had been intended to consider Mrs A’s case in February 2010, but it was considered necessary to obtain further medical advice because the existing medical reports did not address the question of causation. The delay in considering Mrs A’s case was largely the result of waiting for the medical report. There was no maladministration on the part of the Council and, in any event, Mrs A did not suffer any injustice because the award was backdated.
49. In determining the amount of Mrs A’s allowance, the Council had regard to all of the circumstances, as required by Regulation 38, including submissions from Mrs A.
50. The Council has full discretion to award such amount as they determine from time to time (Regulation 34(2)). The Ombudsman may not interfere with the exercise of the Council’s discretion (Edge v the Pensions Ombudsman [1998] Ch 512). The amount paid and the criteria for determining quantum are for the Council to determine (City and County of Swansea v Johnson  [1999] Ch 189) and they are not required to carry out the calculation in a particular way (Q00226). A nil award is an option open to the Council (see City and Council of Swansea). There may be circumstances when the member is receiving more by way of alternative compensation after retirement than they did before and it would be curious if the Council was precluded from making a nil award.

51. The approach taken was to consider the significance/severity of the injury and examine the significance of all relevant factors. The Council agreed that a significant factor would be the degree of disabling injury and, based on the medical report obtained, this was considered significant. The Council considered other relevant matters which might have exacerbated Mrs A’s condition which were not a result of anything which she was required to do in the course of her work, together with the amounts of statutory and pension benefits she receives.
52. Those factors which the Council considered mitigated against a maximum award included the fact that Mrs A had some predisposition to her condition, that she had not revealed a previous illness at an early stage of employment which would have allowed the Council to make adjustments to protect her, her attempts to delay the JNC procedure, the fact that she had contributed to difficult working relationships, and the amount of pension and benefits she was already receiving (amounting to 60% of the maximum award).
53. The Council identified two factors which distinguished the pre July 2009 period: the first, that this was not a case where eligibility was so obvious that the Council could or should have assessed eligibility in the absence of an application from the employee; and the second, that the application could reasonably have been made earlier than it was.
54. The timing of an application is a relevant factor because it is one of the circumstances of the case which the Council is required to consider under Regulation 38. It is accepted that there is no express reference in the minutes to mitigating factors, such as whether Mrs A was capable of handling her own affairs at the relevant time, to explain the delay in her applying for a benefit. However, it is not accepted that Mrs A put these factors to them at the relevant times. For example, there is only one brief mention of Mrs A not being able to manage her own affairs in the various submissions (her solicitor’s submission dated 21 January 2011). They acknowledge that they were aware that she had been admitted to hospital and that her husband was acting on her behalf. It cannot be maladministration for them not to have considered a matter which was not raised with them.

55. It is not accepted that they were aware that Mrs A was unable to manage her own affairs. Throughout the period October 2005 to October 2006, employment tribunal proceedings were being prosecuted on Mrs A’s behalf. Mrs A appears to have played an active part in defending the Council’s claim against her. For example, she signed a number of lengthy defence documents in 2007 and 2008. At no time was a litigation friend appointed for Mrs A. Given that she or those acting for her were able to instruct solicitors on other matters during the relevant time, it was reasonable for them to suppose that she, or those acting for her, could have applied for an injury benefit earlier.
56. The Council believe that to award the full amount requested might have left them open to a third party challenge and would not have satisfied their obligation to consider all the circumstances.
57. The respective weight to be attached to such matters is for the Council to determine and can only be interfered with on the grounds of irrationality (Associated Provincial Picture Houses Ltd v Wednesbury Corporation [1948] 1 KB 223).
58. They were advised that Mrs A’s financial commitments resulting from the legal proceedings were a relevant consideration, but also that there was a contrary view. They were entitled to receive such advice and also entitled not to accept Mrs A’s argument. Whilst the legal action and Mrs A’s application for an injury allowance both arose out of her employment, the two are separate matters. The extent to which expenses incurred as a result of legal proceedings can be recovered is governed by the law pertaining to the costs of legal proceedings and the Courts’ decisions. They were entitled to take the view that a payment under Regulation 34 was not intended to make good any perceived deficiencies in the recoverability of legal costs.
59. With regard to possible redress for distress and inconvenience, Mrs A is not entitled to compensation for what is in substance the Council taking a different view of the facts and/or law to that taken by Mrs A or her advisers. In any event, an error of law does not necessarily amount to maladministration (Westminster City Council v Haywood [1998] Ch 377).
60. Should the Ombudsman be minded to direct them to reconsider any matters, they will require adequate time to prepare for and arrange a meeting.

61. The Council is required to determine the amount of an injury benefit from time to time (Regulation 34(1)) and may suspend or discontinue it (Regulation 34(4)). The period proposed for review (two years and then five years) was in accordance with advice from Dr Yarnley. The Council recognises that Mrs A has concerns about medical assessments and will seek to ensure that reviews are conducted sensitively and medical review is only required if strictly necessary.

62. The core principles relating to the application of a public body’s duties under the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 or the Equality Act 2010 have been set out in a number of recent Court cases (R (Brown) v Secretary of State for Work and Pensions [2008] EWHC 3158, R (Bailey) v Brent LBC [2011] EWHC 2572, R (JG and MB) v Lancashire County Council [2011] EWHC 2295 (Admin)). Mrs A appears to be saying that the Council’s decisions were unlawful because there was no specific reference to their public sector equality duty. They accept that there is no specific reference to the duty in the minutes, but there does not need to be provided that the duty is complied with. In an analogous case (R (McDonald) v Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea [2011] UKSC 33), the Court found that it was absurd to infer from an omission to make express reference to the Disability Discrimination Act that the duty had not been complied with. In addition, the extent of their duty will depend on the circumstances of the case.
63. Mrs A’s allegation of direct discrimination is denied. Insofar as the allegation relates to the provision of inaccurate advice by Council officers, they do not agree that the advice was inaccurate. Furthermore, simply providing inaccurate advice would not be sufficient to establish discrimination. Mrs A alleges that the inclusion of advice about her previous health and conduct and the adoption of that advice in determining the amount of award is directly discriminatory. However, Mrs A was not found to be disabled at the relevant times and therefore references to her previous ill health are not references to disability. Regardless of this, it is not sufficient to find that treatment is because of a disability; the treatment in question must be less favourable than that given to a non-disabled comparator in materially identical circumstances. Mrs A was not treated less favourably. The matters which Mrs A challenges were relevant considerations in determining the amount of allowance and taking those factors into account would be proportionate and in pursuit of a legitimate aim.
64. With regard to a failure to make reasonable adjustments, Mrs A has not identified any provision, criterion or practice adopted by the Council which places a disabled person at a disadvantage. It is not accepted that the retention of the option to review Mrs A’s allowance is a breach of the duty to make reasonable adjustments.
Conclusions

65. This is clearly a difficult case for both Mrs A and the Council, which is reflected in the extensive submissions made by both. I think it will help, therefore, to be clear about the matters which I consider need to be addressed and which are within my remit. In my view, the crucial questions are:

· did the Council exercise their discretion under Regulation 34 in a proper manner?
· was there any unnecessary delay in dealing with Mrs A’s application?
66. The Council have accepted that Mrs A meets the eligibility criteria under Regulation 34(1). In other words, they accept that she sustained an injury as a result of something she was required to do in the course of her work and that she ceased to be employed as a result of permanent incapacity caused by that injury. Regulation 34 does not require any decision as to liability for the injury. In fact, the Council have accepted that Mrs A’s eligibility for an annual allowance dates from August 2005.
67. Having accepted that Mrs A was eligible for an injury benefit, Regulation 34(2) leaves it to the Council to determine the amount of the benefit. This is where the exercise of discretion comes into play. Regulation 38 sets out the considerations which the Council are required to take into account. There are certain specific matters, as set out in paragraph (2), and the rather general phrase “all the circumstances of the case” in paragraph (1).

68. There are also some very well established principles which the Council can be expected to follow when exercising their discretion under Regulation 34(2)
. Briefly, these are:

· they must take all relevant matters into account and ignore all irrelevant ones;

· they must ask themselves the right questions;

· they must direct themselves correctly as to the law and interpret the Regulations correctly; and

· they should not reach a perverse decision.

69. In this context, perverse is taken to mean a decision which no reasonable decision maker, properly directing itself, could have reached in the circumstances.

70. Both Mrs A and the Council have referred me to the Wednesbury test, which they suggest is the appropriate measure in these circumstances. There is no material difference between the Wednesbury test and the formulation above.
71. The Council have, in fact, come to two decisions under Regulation 34: one relates to the period from July 2009 onwards, and the other relates to the period from August 2005 to July 2009. The first decision was to award Mrs A an injury benefit of £1,000 per annum dating from 20 July 2009. The second decision was to award a nil benefit for the period from August 2005 to July 2009.

72. Mrs A argues that it is not open to the Council to award a nil amount and that the amount of the award for the second period is too low. She also argues that the Council have taken account of matters which they should not have in determining the amount. With regard to the first point, Regulation 34 provides for a maximum award (85 per cent of the annual rate of remuneration at the time employment ceased), but no minimum. The amount of an injury award is “of such an amount as that employer may from time to time determine”, subject to Regulation 38. Provided that the Council exercise their discretion in the proper manner, it is up to them to determine how much injury benefit to award Mrs A.
73. In City and County of Swansea, the authority had decided to make no award for the period from cessation of employment with them until a much later date. They then awarded what the judge described as a “purely token award”. Hart J found that the authority’s decision was not based on any misconception that they could not award an allowance for the earlier period nor had it been based on any improper matters. He did not find that the authority could not award a nil allowance. He found that their decision to not to make an award was based on an assessment of Mr Johnston’s circumstances. With regard to the token award, Hart J found that this was not to say that such an award was “derisory or manifestly unreasonable”. He went on to say,
“It seems to me that a “token” award may well be reasonably made in circumstances where the relevant body wishes to recognise that a claimant is in principle entitled to an allowance but where it concludes that for the time being his circumstances do not justify the payment of a substantial amount.”

It is for the Council to decide whether Mrs A’s circumstances were/are such that the payment of a nil or token amount was/is appropriate, applying the principles outlined above. Whilst I find Mrs A’s arguments regarding the discharge of an obligation to pay persuasive, a nil payment was accepted by the Court in City and County of Swansea as a legitimate outcome of the exercise of the discretion under Regulation 34.
74. In addition to the specific matters referred to in Regulation 38, the Council are required to consider “all the circumstances of the case”. The minutes of the meetings at which the Council considered Mrs A’s injury benefit claim, outline the matters considered in some detail. It has been determined in previous cases that the appropriate approach to take is to start with the premise that the maximum award should be granted and determine whether there are circumstances which might indicate that the award should be reduced. The minutes indicate that this was largely the approach taken by the Council; since they started from the point that the severity of Mrs A’s condition would suggest an award at the higher end of the scale and worked back from there. A different decision maker may have considered a different range of issues, but I do not find that any of the matters referred to in the minutes can be described as irrelevant.
75. Mrs A disagrees that the delay in submitting an application for an allowance is a relevant matter and argues that, because it is linked to her disability, it is discriminatory for the Council to take this into account. Whilst a different decision maker may have given less (or more) weight to this factor, I do not find that the Council should not have taken it into account at all. As for whether it amounts to discrimination, I do not find that Mrs A has shown that she has been treated less favourably than an able bodied comparator in the circumstances. Having said that, any reasons for the delay are also relevant matters and should be taken into account. Mrs A argues that she was not capable of dealing with her own affairs at the relevant time. I have seen no evidence that the Council considered this aspect of her claim. In fact, the Council acknowledge that there is no express reference to any consideration for mitigating factors for the delay in applying in their minutes.

76. Given that significant weight was attached to the fact that there was a delay in Mrs A applying for an award, it would have been appropriate for the Council to have considered any mitigating factors. The Council argue that these factors were not put to them at the time. However, I do not find that this was a bar to their consideration. In fact, it is arguable that it was a requirement for them to do so in order that they considered “all the circumstances of the case”. I find that it was maladministration on their part not to do so. The Council have now offered, after the event, some justification for not accepting that there were mitigating circumstances for the delay. It would have been better for the Council to be able to show that they had given proper consideration to these matters; in particular, that they had considered Mrs A’s ability to deal with matters at the relevant time. The evidence as it stands indicates that she was receiving considerable help from others. The Council argue that those others could have applied on her behalf, but this presupposes that they were aware of the option. I find that the Council need more evidence in order to consider this aspect of Mrs A’s case appropriately.
77. The weight which is attached to any of the issues considered by the Council is for them to determine. They are required to give consideration to all the relevant evidence, but the weight they give to that evidence is entirely a matter for them. There is a difference between giving little weight to the evidence and ignoring it. Mrs A is particularly concerned that, in her view, the Council did not take into account the cost to her of the prior legal action and the fact that she had taken out a loan to meet her legal costs. The Council have argued that a payment under Regulation 34 is not intended to address any perceived deficiencies in the recoverability of the costs incurred as a result of legal action even if that action was related to the employment in question. Whilst Mrs A’s financial circumstances (including any liabilities) can be encompassed within the all embracing phrase “all the circumstances of the case”, the weight given to this factor was for the Council to decide. I do not disagree with their analysis and, indeed, it sits comfortably with Mrs A’s own view that the intention is for the injury allowance to compensate for loss of employment through permanent incapacity. I find that the Council did not ignore Mrs A’s loan; rather, they gave it relatively little weight.
78. Mrs A has drawn my attention to the First Tier Tribunal decision specifically. I do not find that the Council ignored the tribunal findings. It is clear from the minutes of their meetings that they considered the tribunal report and determined to give them relatively little weight. The Council noted that certain of the tribunal’s findings were at variance with the findings of the previous High Court case and that the test for payment of benefit was different. Both of these reasons are factually correct. The Council were not a party to the tribunal hearing and did not, therefore, have the opportunity to put their case. I find that the Council were not bound in any way to accept the tribunal’s findings. 
79. The same applies to the advice offered by Dr Yarnley and to a certain extent to the High Court’s decision. The Council were clearly bound to accept the High Court’s decision on the matter which was the subject of the case before it. However, Mrs A’s eligibility for an injury benefit was not the matter before the High Court and, therefore, the Council had to come to their own decision on this. It is appropriate that their decisions should be informed by the High Court’s decision and to the judge’s comments in relation to that case, but to go any further would be to risk fettering the Council’s discretion under Regulation 34.

80. Mrs A argues that it is not clear what weight the Council have attached to the various circumstances or how they determined how much weight to place on the evidence. In the absence of a specific formula or methodology for determining the amount of an award, the decision will always appear somewhat subjective. However, I find that the Council have attempted to approach the exercise of their discretion in an objective manner. It is understandable in the circumstances, but I find that Mrs A is seeking more detail than was envisaged by the Regulations themselves.

81. Mrs A argues that the Council are in breach of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and the Equality Act 2010 in the way in which they have approached her application for an injury allowance. The cases to which Mrs A has referred me relate to the actions of a public authority when performing a public function. In determining the amount of injury allowance payable to Mrs A, the Council are not undertaking a public function. They are acting as a “responsible person” in relation to an occupational pension scheme (Part 5, Chapter 2, Section 61 of the Equality Act). Their actions, therefore, fall to be considered by reference to the non-discrimination rule which is assumed to be included in an occupational pension scheme. By virtue of the non-discrimination rule, a responsible person must not discriminate against another person in carrying out their functions in relation to the pension scheme.

82. The question is, therefore, whether the Council treated Mrs A less favourably than they would treat others by reason of her disability when deciding the amount of injury allowance to pay her. If Mrs A can establish a prima facie case that the Council discriminated against her on the grounds of her disability, it would then be for the Council to prove that they did not. In order to establish a prima facie case, Mrs A needs to be able to show that the Council treated her less favourably than a comparator whose circumstances are not materially different to hers. Mrs A argues that the Council gave greater weight to disability related issues and, as a result, discriminated against her. However, this is not the test for establishing discrimination. Mrs A would still have to show that she has been treated less favourably than an able-bodied comparator.
83. The nature of an injury benefit award inevitably means that the focus will be on the person’s disability. This does not mean that they are being treated less favourably. Amongst the many factors the Council considered, there are two in particular which I understand Mrs A objects to: whether they would have employed her had they been fully aware of her previous medical history and whether they would have acted differently (that is, whether they would have put measure in place to support her) had they been fully aware. In neither case has Mrs A shown that the Council have treated her any less favourably than an appropriate comparator.
84. I agree that Regulation 45 requires the Council to provide Mrs A with written notification of their decision, which should include the grounds for their decision. A reference to the minutes is not substantive grounds. However, I do not find that Mrs A has suffered any injustice as a result of any failings in the Council’s notification because she had access to the minutes within a short period of hearing the decision.

85. I now turn to the matter of delay. Mrs A seeks to argue that the Council should have considered her for an injury benefit when her employment ceased in 2005. The Council argue that it was not clear, at that time, that Mrs A’s injury had been caused by anything that she was required to do in carrying out her work. They argue that, whilst the Regulations do not call for an application from Mrs A, this is implied because Regulation 38(2) refers to matters which can only be known by her. Regulation 45 calls for the decision to be made as soon as reasonably practicable after the event by virtue of which the benefit becomes payable.

86. Mrs A relies on Dr Hancock’s comments in 2006 to establish the earliest at which the Council should have commenced consideration of an injury benefit. I find that Dr Hancock’s comments do not amount to statement to the effect that Mrs A’s condition resulted from anything which she was required to do in carrying out her work. Nor do I find that it would be reasonable to say that the comments in Mrs A’s witness statement amounted to an application for injury benefit.

87. I do not find that the Council needed to consider, simply because Mrs A had left and was unwell, whether she qualified for injury benefit. The eligibility criteria for ill health retirement are quite different to those for injury benefit and, in the majority of cases, eligibility for the one does not mean eligibility for the other. The sensible approach is probably somewhere between the positions adopted by Mrs A and the Council; an application by the member is an appropriate trigger for an injury benefit decision, but lack of an application does not prevent the employer from considering an injury benefit. The most appropriate approach will depend on the circumstances of the individual case.

88. In Mrs A’s case, the Council commenced the decision making process after receiving a formal application from her solicitors in July 2009. In the particular circumstances of her case, I do not find that it was maladministration for them not to have done so at an earlier date. It was roughly twenty months from the date of the solicitors’ letter to the first of the Council’s decisions, which is clearly less than satisfactory. A large part of that time was accounted for in obtaining medical reports. I have not identified any unreasonable delay on the Council’s part. Mrs A appears to accept that the greater part of the delay was caused by the medical advisers, but she argues that the Council should be held responsible for the failings on the part of the medical advisers. I do not find Mrs A’s comparison with the Local Government Ombudsman helpful. The provision of a medical opinion was not a function the Council could undertake themselves but had delegated. In the circumstances Mrs A describes, the Council might well have vicarious liability for the body carrying out the Council’s functions. In this case, the Council do not have vicarious liability. I have, therefore, considered whether there was any action the Council might have taken to mitigate the problems with obtaining medical advice. The obvious one being to appoint an alternative medical adviser. However, it is doubtful that this would have reduced the waiting time appreciably. I do not find that it was maladministration on the part of the Council to wait for reports from IMASS albeit that these were delayed.
89. Mrs A appealed against the Council’s decision to the Secretary of State. Her appeal was upheld and the Council were required to reconsider part of their decision. I find that they did so within a reasonable time.

90. Mrs A has expressed concern that the Council have reserved the right to ask for a psychiatric report should they decide to review her award. The Regulations do allow the Council to review an award (it is set “from time to time”) and I am satisfied that the Council are fully aware of and sensitive to Mrs A’s concerns. I do not find, in the circumstances, that I may limit the Council’s right to review in the way in which Mrs A would like me to. However, in view of the particular circumstances of the case, they may wish to review the need for a medical review within two years of a decision which has already been subject to considerable scrutiny. It seems to me that both parties would benefit from a longer breathing space. However, I do not think it appropriate for me to make any particular directions to this effect. Any such review should, of course, be undertaken with due regard to Mrs A’s health at the time.

91. On the subject of review, Mrs A also argues that reviews should also be retrospective and the Council should have taken into account changes to her circumstances (and in particular her financial circumstances) over the period from 2005 to 2011. In City and County of Swansea, Hart J said the ombudsman’s directions were unsatisfactory because of an apparent suggestion that the amount of allowance awarded on the basis of Mr Johnson’s then current circumstances ought to be treated as payable since he ceased employment. Hart J said this was contrary to the provision that the award should be determined “from time to time”.
92. The Council have distinguished between the two periods on two grounds: that Mrs A’s eligibility was not obvious prior to her solicitor’s application, and that an application could have been made at an earlier date. I have said that I do not find the delay in applying to be an irrelevant matter for the purposes of exercising the Council’s discretion. I have some difficulty with the Council’s alternative reason. The Council have accepted that Mrs A was eligible for an injury benefit from 2005. Under Regulation 34, eligibility is an absolute; there are no degrees of eligibility. Once the Council had accepted that Mrs A was eligible for a benefit, they should have proceeded on that basis.
93. The approach the Council needed to take was to determine what level of benefit they would have granted Mrs A in 2005 on the basis of the circumstances of the case at that time. They could then proceed to “review” the award from time to time and there is nothing to say that 2009 was not an appropriate review point. However, if the Council decide to alter the amount of an award, they need to be able to show what has changed. At the moment, the factors which the Council have put forward to distinguish between the pre-2009 and post-2009 periods are that Mrs A had applied for a benefit and that they were more certain of her eligibility. On the matter of the application, I have already found that the Council need to consider any mitigating factors behind the delay. On the matter of eligibility, if what the Council meant, by saying that Mrs A’s eligibility was clearer in 2009, was that her condition had deteriorated, this would support an alteration to her award from 2009. If they meant that they were not certain what her condition was, then they should have made efforts to find out – or reached a conclusion as to her eligibility on the balance of probabilities based on such evidence as they did have. 
94. So I consider the decision to make a nil award should be revisited taking into account my comments above. I uphold the complaint against the Council to that extent. 
95. Below I give the Council 28 days to carry out the reconsideration. The Council have explained that the formalities may mean that the process will take longer. Enforcement in the County Court would be a matter for Mrs A. Given that enforcement is a fairly blunt instrument and a Court may not do more in this case than require the Council to proceed expeditiously, in practice the 28 days will act as a spur to completing the task as soon as is practicable – even if outside the period.
Directions

96. I direct that, within 28 days of the date of this determination, the Council shall give further consideration to the amount of injury benefit payable to Mrs A for the period August 2005 to July 2009. Any arrears of injury allowance which arise out of the Council’s review of their decision should be paid with simple interest at the rates quoted for the time being by the reference banks. In addition, the Council shall pay Mrs A the sum of £400, within 21 days, in recognition of the non-financial injustice she has suffered as a result of the maladministration I have identified.
Tony King

Pensions Ombudsman

5 October 2012 
� A report of a relevant determination by the Secretary of State (356) under the previous injury benefit regulations had been found by the time of the Committee meeting and details were provided in the meeting. The Committee were advised that, in the case in question, the Secretary of State had noted that the degree to which a former employee’s actions had contributed to her condition was a matter for consideration when determining the amount of an award.





� Mrs A’s representatives subsequently challenged this figure, pointing out that she had been obliged to take out a loan secured against her home and her annual pension as a result of the previous Court case. Mrs A has pointed out that the figure was much lower in 2005.


� Dr Hancock is an occupational physician at the County Council’s Occupational Health Unit. He wrote to the Council, on 24 January 2006, having seen Mrs A. Dr Hancock said,


“My assessment indicates that Mrs [A] is currently unfit for work with significant reactive anxiety and depression attributed to events at work ...


It is my opinion that recovery from the current setback is foreseeable although this is likely to be protracted ...


I would share the opinion ... that on balance return to work as a Managing Director with [R Council] or comparable employment would be likely to result in a relapse of mental health.


It is therefore my opinion that Mrs [A] is permanently unfit for work in this capacity and therefore application for ill health retirement would be supported.”





�A copy of the tribunal decision has been provided 


� Edge v Pensions Ombudsman [1998] 2 All ER 547
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